2001

Marc Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions Co., martin mathis, Michael Denoyer, Ronald R. Smith, Donald Saunders : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-2-2(3)(j). The Supreme Court granted the parties' Joint Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order, by order dated September 26, 2001, see Supplemental Addendum 2058-2057, and shall as well hear issues determined by the Sixth Judicial District Court to be final under Utah R.Civ. P. 54(b), by order dated August 23, 2001. See Addendum, 2041-2040.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

This appeal raises the following issues:

1. Whether the court below erred in granting the combined Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment on Smith's breach of contract and breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims arising from the termination of Smith's employment with GCE? Smith alleged GCE and the individual Appellees breached GCE's employment agreement with him and the inherent covenant of good faith and fair dealing by terminating him without cause. The court concluded that, while material issues of fact existed as to implied terms and

conditions of employment and whether Smith had overcome the presumption of at will employment, the termination documents executed by the parties at Smith's separation constituted an accord, effectively waiving and releasing all Appellees from any claim Smith may have had arising from his employment agreement with Grand Canyon Expedition Company.

2. Whether the court below erred in granting the combined Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment on Smith's claim that the combined Appellees breached a stock buy-sell agreement between the parties, along with the inherent covenant of good faith and fair dealing, by reason of their failure to adjust historic accounting practices when they calculated the net book value at the time of their forced buy out of Smith? Smith claims that GCE's historic accounting of the value of its assets, acquisitions and income were kept artificially low for tax purposes and should have been adjusted at the time of the combined Appellees' forced buy out of Smith to accurately reflect the real net book value of GCE as of the date of the buy out. The court reasoned, in essence, that there were not facts sufficient to support a

conclusion that the accounting practices employed at Smith's departure were influenced by his forced exit and therefore the accord reached between the parties upon Smith's departure bars any claim arising from the historic accounting practices.

3. Whether the court below erred in granting the combined Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment on the question of whether or not Smith is entitled to punitive damages?

4. Whether the court below erred in granting the combined Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment on Smith's claim for attorneys' fees as consequential damages?

5. Whether the court below erred in denying Smith's motion for leave to amend its complaint to add a claim for unjust enrichment?

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The trial court's rulings of Smith's motions for summary judgment will be reviewed under the same standard as that applied by the trial court. In other words, the appellate court will view the facts and all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the party

opposing the motion. The trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed for correctness. *E.g. Neiderhauser Bldrs. & Dev. Corp. v. Campbell*, 824 P.2d 1193, 1196 (Utah Ct. App. 1992). Issues of contractual interpretation are also reviewed for correctness, affording the district court no deference. *Aquagen Int'l, Inc. v. Calrae Trust*, 972 P.2d 411, 413 (Utah 1998) [citations omitted]. The reviewing court may affirm on any ground available to the trial court regardless of whether it was relied upon in reaching the decision from which an appeal is sought. *Higgins v. Salt Lake County*, 855 P.2d 231, 241 (Utah 1993). The trial court's denial of Smith's motion for leave to amend will be reviewed on an abuse of discretion standard. *E.g. Harper v. Summit County*, 963 P.2d 768, 779 (Utah Ct. App. 1998).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES AND CASES

1. Utah law articulating the elements and appropriate analysis in the area of accord and satisfaction is articulated in *Marton Remodeling v. Jensen*, 706 P.2d 607 (Utah 1985); *Estate Landscaping and Snow Removal Specialists, Inc. v. Mountain States Telephone and Telegraph Co.*, 844 P.2d 322,

(Utah 1992) and revisited in *ProMax Dev. Corp. v. Raile*, 998 P.2d 254 (Utah 2000).

2. Utah law of waiver as it relates to Appellant's execution of documents surround the termination of his employment and stock buyout is addressed in *Soters, Inc. v. Deseret Federal Savings and Loan Assn.*, 857 P.2d 935 (Utah 1993).

3. Utah law generally as it relates to breach of an implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing as articulated in *St. Benedict's Development Co. v. St. Benedict's Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 194 (Utah 1991) and its progeny. There do not appear to be any Utah Cases specifically addressing breach of such a covenant inherent in a stock buy-sell agreement.

4. Utah law regarding recovery of punitive damages for claims predicated on breach of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing and the opportunity to plead and prove punitive damages is included in *Cook Associates, Inc. v. Warnick*, 664 P.2d 1161 (Utah 1983); *St. Benedict's Development Co. v. St. Benedict's Hosp.*, 811 P.2d 199 (Utah 1991); Utah

R.Civ. P. 54(c)(1); *Behrens v. Raleigh Hills Hosp., Inc.*, 675 P.2d 1175 (Utah 1983).

5. Utah law as it relates to recovery of attorney's fees as consequential damages, including recovery of such fees for breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing in an employment agreement and stock buy-sell agreement is addressed in *Canyon Country Store v. Bracey*, 781 P.2d 414 (Utah 1989); *Collier v. Heinz*, 827 P.2d 982 (Utah App. 1992); and, *Heslop v. Bank of Utah*, 839 P.2d 828 (Utah 1992).

5. The law of Utah as it relates to unjust enrichment, including whether unjust enrichment is an appropriate remedy is found in *E.g. American Towers Owners' Ass'n v. CCI Mech., Inc.*, 930 P.2d 1182 (Utah 1996).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Marc Smith, had made his life's career running river rafting trips through the Grand Canyon. He worked full time for Grand Canyon Expeditions, Inc. a corporation owned by his older brother, Ronald R. Smith, beginning in about 1968, for 18 years as a river guide, chief river guide and manager. In 1986, when Ronald R. Smith sold Grand Canyon Expeditions,

Inc. to a group of individuals led by Appellee Donald Saunders, Smith became an owner, director and officer, along with Denoyer, Mathis, Saunders and, his brother Ron, of the newly incorporated company known as Grand Canyon Expeditions Company, "GCE".

Smith's two working partners, Denoyer, and Mathis, had previously worked together at a competitor of Grand Canyon Expeditions, Inc., White Water River Expeditions. Denoyer was a manager for White Water River Expeditions and Mathis was a seasonal employee, working as a boatman for White Water running a couple river trips a year. Denoyer and Mathis were both involved from the beginning with Saunders, who financed the purchase of Grand Canyon Expeditions, Inc. from Ron Smith, and the organization of GCE. Saunders wanted to retain both the owner of Grand Canyon Expeditions, Inc. and Smith, who had been running the warehouse, equipment and crew for Grand Canyon Expeditions, Inc., to assure that the new Corporation, GCE, would continue to operate as it had been until then. However, although Denoyer and Mathis were happy with their

positions in the new company, they were not happy that they were being forced to work with a "third" partner.

As part of the acquisition, Smith, Denoyer and Mathis were each required to sign an employment agreement, promissory notes and a stock agreement dated as of November 29, 1986. These agreements, along with conversations at the time of the organization of the purchasing entity, and continuing thereafter in meetings and exchanges among the investors, along with the parties' course of dealing with each other, comprehend the business relationship between the parties. The employment agreement provided for an initial term of one year. The initial promissory note called for repayment in January of 1992. The buy-sell agreement provided the mechanism for the acquisition of an outgoing party's stock in the corporation with an accelerated schedule to be used in the calculation of the outgoing shareholders purchase price. Pursuant to the buy-sell agreement, Smith became obligated upon termination of his employment at GCE, either voluntarily or involuntarily, to sell to GCE, and GCE was obligated to buy from Smith, all of his shares of stock in GCE. The price for the shares was to

be based upon a percentage of net book value of such shares as determined in the sole and conclusive discretion of GCE's accountant. Under the agreement, the buyout price escalated over time from 100 percent to 140 percent of net book value.

Smith brought his experience, knowledge and expertise to GCE. He shared that experience, knowledge and expertise with his partners Denoyer and Mathis. In 1991, GCE acquired a competing river running company known as Whitewater/Sobek. With this acquisition the officers of GCE increased their shares of stock; however, the acquisition also greatly diluted the stock value. In conjunction with the Whitewater/Sobek acquisition and the increase of percentage ownership in the company, the parties executed a second promissory note payable December 1998.

In July 1992, almost six years into the enterprise, after Denoyer and Mathis had had the opportunity to learn the intricacies of running and managing a river running operation, Denoyer, the president of the company, fired Smith, which termination contractually obligated Smith to sell his shares in GCE back to the Corporation. He was given no reason or

explanation for his termination. He was given no notice, either formal or otherwise; nor was any other shareholder, officer, or director of GCE provided with written notice of the impending unilateral decision, or any opportunity to inquire or investigate the matter, prior to ousting Smith, their partner and co-owner from his position with GCE. The value of the stock was substantially lower than it had been in the past when Smith was terminated from GCE. The reasons for and basis of Smith's termination and subsequent liquidation of his stock position in GCE are the subject of his breach of contract and breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims. The claims arise from his employment agreement with GCE as well as from his buy-sell agreement with combined Appellees.

Upon his departure, Smith and GCE negotiated termination documents whereby Smith resigned his position as director and officer and acknowledged the calculation of his buy out.

Smith subsequently discovered that, due to historic accounting practices, the calculation of the net book value of his stock as of July 1992, which was performed in the sole and

conclusive discretion of GCE, did not accurately and fairly reflect the real net book value of the corporation at that time and realized that he had been deprived of that substantial benefit of his bargain with Appellees. This suit based on his wrongful termination and loss of benefit of his bargain under the buy-sell agreement followed.

Well after the suit was filed and the parties were engaged in substantial discovery and motions, Smith became aware that GCE received a refund of an Arizona state amusement tax in the amount of \$907,916.94 for taxes assessed Grand Canyon from 1986 through 1992. On March 31, 1999, Smith motioned the court for leave to amend its complaint to add a claim for unjust enrichment based on the amusement tax refund of taxes collected and paid to the state of Arizona during the time he owned a percentage of GCE. In its March 20, 2000 Memorandum Decision, the court below elected to avoid the quagmire of getting into an unjust enrichment analysis and determined instead to allow Smith to pursue his claim for a portion of the Arizona amusement tax refund under his theory

of breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The court below denied Smith's motion for leave to amend.

PRESERVATION OF ISSUES BELOW

On about June 29, 1998, Smith filed a second amended complaint asserting two causes of action, the first for breach of contract and the second for breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing against all of the Appellees. Smith's breach of contract and covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims are based on the performances and conduct of the parties under the subject employment agreement and the stockholders buy-sell agreement. See Addendum 181-213.

On March 31, 1999, Smith moved to amend his second amended complaint to add a claim for unjust enrichment based on the receipt by GCE of the Arizona amusement tax refund. All Appellees filed a motion for summary judgment on about October 30, 1998, a second motion for summary judgment on March 22, 1999 and a third motion for summary judgment on October 5, 2000. By memorandum decisions dated January 15, 1999, Addendum 807-815; March 20, 2000, Addendum 1713-1721; and January 27, 2001, Addendum 2011-2022; and Order dated July

31, 2001, Addendum 2030-2033, the court granted Appellees' motion for summary judgment on Smith's breach of contract and covenant of good faith and fair dealing claims as it relates to Smith's employment, GCE's historic accounting practices and failure to make adjustment at time of Smith's buy out, but denied the combined Appellees' motion as to Smith's claim for breach of covenant of good faith and fair dealing as it relates to the Arizona amusement tax refund question. As the court concluded that the issue related to Smith's entitlement to a portion of the Arizona tax refund question fell within the ambit of his covenant of good faith and fair dealing claim, it denied his motion for leave to amend his complaint to add the unjust enrichment claim. See Addendum 1713-1721. The parties jointly petitioned the Supreme Court for permission to appeal the trial court's July 31, 2001 order on the Appellees' motions for summary judgment, Smith's motion for leave to amend the complaint, and other rulings which Appellees will raise on cross appeal. That petition was granted by order dated September 26, 2001, see Supplemental Addendum 2058-2057. The parties also jointly petitioned the

trial court pursuant to Utah R.Civ. P. 54(b) for certification of the trial court's prior order regarding Smith's breach claims as they arose from his allegations of wrongful termination and otherwise out of the employment relationship. See Addendum 2039-2034. That order was granted by the trial court on September 7, 2001. See Addendum 2041-2040.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court's dismissal of Smith's wrongful termination claim against Appellees was in error. The documents, discussions and course of dealings between the parties over the six years of the enterprise evidence a clear intention of an implied term of the employment contract that Smith could not be terminated without cause. The record shows that Smith was not an at-will employee, but a corporate officer, a stock owner, and active in the day to day operations of the business, and that all parties intended this to be a long term business commitment. Appellees needed to show cause in order to fire Smith, which they failed to do. The record shows a material dispute of fact surrounding the terms of Smith's employment that should have overcome

Appellees' motions for summary judgment. The court below recognized these issues of fact but then retreated to the documents executed in conjunction with Smith's termination and buy out to conclude that he had reached an accord, effectively waiving and releasing Appellees from all such claims.

The trial court erred in dismissing Smith's claim based on Appellees' breach of contract and their covenant of good faith and fair dealing as it related to the calculation of GCE's net book value at the time of Appellees' buyout of Smith. Smith argued that the Appellees breached their contractual obligations and covenant of good faith and fair dealing by relying on historic corporate accounting procedures used for tax purposes, the net effect of which was to establish a net book value artificially low at the time of his forced buy-out and substantially lower than the real net book value of the business. This calculus included inappropriate amortization of several large assets, as well as the booking of, the depreciation of, and the general accounting treatment of the purchased assets of the acquired company Whitewater/Sobek. As issues of material fact exist as to the

nature of the historic accounting methods and the proper calculation of "net book value", summary judgment was inappropriate. The court below avoided any analysis of the facts but simply relied, in its ruling on Appellees' third summary judgment motion, on its accord analysis in its ruling on Appellees' first motion and dismissed Smith's claim.

The trial court's dismissal of Smith's claim for punitive damages and attorneys' fees was premature and in error. Punitive damages are an appropriate remedy if Smith can establish at trial evidence of intentional conduct, willfulness, malice or reckless disregard of rights on the part of the Appellees, by reason of conduct arising to the level of an independent tort. In this case, Appellees' intentionally, willfully or recklessly sought out to learn the operation of the business and then to terminate Smith; and then willfully, intentionally and recklessly deprived Smith of the real value of his interest in GCE when he was forced to sell his stock for a price which was based on an artificially low valuation of GCE. Smith was never given the chance to establish the elements of these torts before the trier of

fact, and dismissal by summary judgment was premature and in error.

Further, attorney's fees are recoverable for a breach of good faith and fair dealing under a reasonable extension of existing Utah case law, and the trial court's dismissal of Smith's claim was premature and in error.

Finally, the court abused its discretion in denying Smith's motion for leave to amend his complaint to add a claim for unjust enrichment. The court below simply dispensed with the motion without evaluating the allegations of plaintiff's complaint and the legal theories by concluding that any recovery of the Arizona amusement tax refund fits within Smith's theory of breach of the covenant of good and fair dealing under the stock buy-sell agreement. In so doing, the court deprived Smith of the alternative equitable theory of unjust enrichment should the court at trial conclude that Smith's claim falls without the ambit of his contract with Appellees.

ARGUMENT

I. SMITH'S TERMINATION FROM GRAND CANYON EXPEDITIONS' EMPLOY AND AS AN OFFICER, DIRECTOR AND CO-OWNER OF THE COMPANY WAS WRONGFUL AND CONSTITUTED A BREACH OF CONTRACT AND OF APPELLEES' OBLIGATION OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING.

A. No accord was reached between Smith and Appellees at the termination of Smith's participation in GCE Enterprise nor were any potential claims waived or released.

The court below erred in granting summary judgment on Smith's employment-related claims. It dispensed with all issues and potential issues related to Smith's employment with GCE and his participation in the GCE enterprise with the individual Appellees by concluding that an accord was reached between the parties, "between July 15 and July 25, 1992 as reflected in the termination documents." See the Trial Court's January 15, 1999 Memorandum Decision at p. 6, included as Addendum 807-815. To this end, the court reasoned

Plaintiff's resignation is short and simple and is signed and notarized. The accompanying agreement provides for the purchase of Plaintiff's stock at 140 percent of value, consistent with the Buy-Sell Agreement, and affords him two other forms of relief to which he does not appear to have been previously entitled. These two benefits are respectively a severance payment equivalent to one year's salary and

the second, a relaxation of a non-competition covenant.

Under paragraph 6 of the termination agreement, the severance pay was "In addition to the payments provided above [for stock purchases], and in lieu of any other amounts or benefits which may be due from the corporation as provided in the Employment Agreement or otherwise" This is strong language.

Id. The court continues to point out the facts it considered important as a basis of its "accord" holding. Those were that it was Smith who suggested the possibility of a severance payment and Saunders agreed; that Smith stopped short of claiming fraud in the inducement of his signature on the severance payments; that Smith was aware of the existence of a non-compete obligation; that GCE agreed to waive the right to enforce its non-competition agreement; and, that Smith accepted payments contemporaneously as well as those made after execution of the agreements. See Addendum 807-815.

Under Utah law, "[a]n accord and satisfaction arises when the parties to a contract agree that a different performance, to be made in substitution of the performance originally agreed upon, will discharge the obligation created under the

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