2002

Marc Smith v. Grand Canyon Expeditions CO,
Martin Mathis, Michael Denoyer, Ronald R. Smith,
Donald Saunders, John Does, Jane Does : Brief of
Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE TESTIMONY OF APPELLANT'S EXPERT DERK RASMUSSEN.

In opposition to Appellees' second motion for summary judgment, Appellant submitted an expert affidavit. In this affidavit, Appellant's expert, Derk Rasmussen, opined that GCE did not comply with generally accepted accounting principles in its treatment of the Arizona Tax Refund and certain assets in the Sobek transaction. A copy of Rasmussen's Affidavit is found in the record. (Rec. at 1510-1522.)

Appellees moved the trial court to exclude Rasmussen's "expert" testimony under Utah Rule of Evidence 702 on the grounds that, in rendering his opinions, Rasmussen relied upon superseded accounting principles, misapplied the black letter of other accounting principles, and relied upon a clearly erroneous factual foundation while ignoring other significant and undisputed facts. Additionally, many of Rasmussen's opinions were, however misguided, entirely irrelevant to the inquiry before the trial court. Despite the unreliable and irrelevant nature of Rasmussen's opinions, however, the trial

court denied Appellees' motion to exclude Rasmussen's expert testimony without analysis or reasoning.²⁰

It is well-established that reliability and relevance concerns with regard to expert testimony are not, as Appellant suggests, matters that are merely left to a jury; rather, they go directly to the threshold determination that a trial court must make in exercising its critical "gatekeeping" function under Utah Rule of Evidence 702. Accordingly, the trial court's failure to exclude Rasmussen's "expert" testimony was error.

1. Standard of Admissibility of Expert Testimony

Trial judges are in a unique position to evaluate witnesses, evidence, and the trial in its entirety. State v. Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275, 1282 (Utah 1998) (stating that trial courts have the obligation to "control and manage the proceedings and preserve the integrity of the trial process"). "As to the admission of scientific, technical, or other specialized evidence, when counsel has made a proper objection to its admissibility, a trial judge is charged with the responsibility of being a 'gatekeeper to carefully scrutinize [the] proffered evidence.'" Franklin v. Stevenson, 987 P.2d 22, 26 (Utah 1999) (quoting State v. Ramirez, 817 P.2d 774, 778 (Utah 1991)). "As gatekeeper, it falls to the trial court to ensure that [expert testimony] proffered by either party meets the appropriate standard of admissibility." Id.

²⁰ With regard to Appellees' motion to exclude Rasmussen's expert testimony, the trial court's Memorandum Decision merely states: "Each motion has been extensively briefed and argued. After careful consideration, the Court has determined to deny [Defendant's motion to exclude the testimony of Appellant's expert]." (Rec. at 1755.)

The general rule for admissibility of expert testimony is Utah Rule of Evidence 702, which provides:

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.²¹ (Emphasis added.) It is axiomatic that to “assist the trier of fact,” expert testimony must, at a minimum, be relevant and reasonably reliable. See, e.g., Turck v. Baker Petrolite Corp., 2001 WL 589470, *9 (10th Cir. (Okla.)) (“In order to assist the trier of fact, expert testimony must be reasonably reliable.” (emphasis added)). Rule 702’s “‘helpfulness’ standard also implicates Rule 403 considerations, since if the evidence is confusing or unfairly prejudicial it will hinder rather than aid jury decision making.” Campbell v. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co., ___ P.3d ___, 2001 UT 89, 86, cert. denied, 122 S.Ct. 2326 (2002) (internal quotations omitted); see also Rimmasch, 775 P.2d at 398 n. 8 (stating that “any expert evidence, scientifically based or otherwise,” must be excluded if it would result in “confusion of the issues” or “mislead[] the jury” (emphasis added)).

²¹ In State v. Rimmasch, this Court mandated further 702 inquiries where expert testimony is based upon novel scientific principles or techniques. 775 P.2d 388, 396 (Utah 1989). Although this Court has held that “the Rimmasch test was not intended to apply to all expert testimony,” State v. Adams, 5 P.3d 642, 646 (Utah 2000), it has not held that a trial court’s “gatekeeping” responsibilities do not extend to all expert testimony. To the contrary, this Court explained in Rimmasch that “any expert evidence, scientifically based or otherwise,” must be excluded as part of the trial court’s critical gatekeeping function if it does not meet the strictures of Rule 702. Rimmasch, 775 P.2d at 398 n.8 (emphasis added); see also Franklin, 987 P.2d at 26 (stating that a trial court’s “gatekeeping” function extends not only to the admission of “scientific” evidence, but also to the admission of “technical or other specialized evidence” as well).

Applying these well-established principles to Rasmussen's testimony yields the inexorable conclusion that Rasmussen's opinions are inadmissible under Rule 702 and should have been excluded by the trial court.

2. Rasmussen's Opinions Clearly Do Not Meet the Standard for Admissibility Under Rule 702.

a. Rasmussen's Opinions About Treatment of the Arizona Tax Refund Are Unreliable and Irrelevant.

Rasmussen opined that the tax refund received by GCE from the state of Arizona, years after Appellant's voluntary resignation, should have been treated as a "prior period adjustment" under GAAP. (Rec. at 1510-1511.) Rasmussen's opinion is inadmissible, however, for three independent reasons: (1) Rasmussen relied on a superseded accounting principle; (2) Rasmussen unquestionably misapplied the proper accounting principle; and (3) Rasmussen's opinion is completely irrelevant.

Rasmussen's first error was relying upon a superseded GAAP principle. Although Rasmussen identified no accounting principle indicating that the tax refund must be treated as a "prior period adjustment" in his affidavit, he finally stated in his deposition that Accounting Principles Board Opinion ("APB") No. 9 is relevant to this issue. (Rec. at 1480 (depo. transcript at p. 216).) Rasmussen admitted, however, that APB No. 9 was superseded by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards ("FAS") No. 16 nearly twenty-five years ago. (Rec. at 1480 (depo. transcript at p. 216, 219).) While GAAP may not be "law," it does provide the accounting standards against which the accounting practices of GCE are to be measured. Accordingly, Rasmussen's reliance on APB No. 9, an accounting principle that has admittedly been outdated for nearly twenty-five years,

renders his opinion regarding the Arizona Tax Refund fundamentally unreliable, and consequently, inadmissible under Rule 702.

Rasmussen's second error was misapplying the correct GAAP principle, FAS No. 16, which was promulgated in response to a request for reconsideration of APB No. 9. As Rasmussen conceded, FAS No. 16 defines when income realized in a later period might be attributed to activities of a prior period. FAS No. 16 states the rule as follows:

Except as specified in paragraph 11 and in paragraphs 13 and 14 with respect to prior interim periods of the current year, all items of profit and loss recognized during a period, including accruals of estimated losses from loss contingencies, shall be included in the determination of net income for that period.

(Rec. at 1457 (footnotes omitted) (emphasis added).) Accordingly, FAS No. 16 unequivocally states that an item of profit or loss, such as the Arizona Tax Refund, shall not be treated as a prior period adjustment unless the exceptions identified in paragraphs 11, 13, or 14 are applicable. Rasmussen, however, conceded in his deposition that the exceptions set forth in paragraphs 11, 13, and 14 were inapplicable in the instant case. (Rec. at 1478 (depo. transcript at p. 233-234).) Therefore, by Rasmussen's own admissions, in no event could a trier of fact conclude that GCE's accountant violated GAAP by not treating the Arizona Tax Refund as a prior period adjustment.²²

²² Appellant argued before the trial court that FAS No. 16 may define some of the exceptions where income generated in a later period may be attributed to activities of a prior period, but not all of the exceptions. Appellant is mistaken. FAS No. 16 plainly defines the universe of exceptions; its exceptions are exhaustive, not merely illustrative. Appellant's argument is a classic example of why an expert's testimony must be excluded where the principle is improperly applied by the expert. Rasmussen should not be free to redraft this GAAP standard in order to further Appellant's interests.

Finally, and perhaps most importantly, Rasmussen's opinion regarding the Arizona Tax Refund is entirely irrelevant. Rasmussen's affidavit offered absolutely no evidence that the accounting performed at the time of Appellant's buyout in 1992 would have to be revisited by reason of the Arizona Tax Refund received years later. Indeed, Rasmussen admitted that GAAP does not require adjustment of prior financial statements or recalculation of a shareholder buyout based upon a subsequent economic event:

Q. But you don't go back and adjust the prior periods' financial statements under FASB 16?

A. No. I have never claimed that you adjust the prior periods' financial statements. I'm saying that it —

* * *

Q. What do you think Mr. Smith wants to do here, just have it noted and do nothing with it?

A. I think what he wants to have happen — I'm guessing because he hasn't told me — is he wants it recognized as that it relates to time periods when he was — he had an ownership interest.

Q. And GAAP doesn't require that, does it?

A. It doesn't — there is no GAAP that requires you to go back and restate the financial statements.

(Rec. at 1478 (depo. transcript at p. 236–237) (emphasis added).) Accordingly,

Rasmussen's opinion about whether to treat the Arizona Tax Refund as a prior period adjustment, is entirely irrelevant to this inquiry as it cannot permissibly lead to the

conclusion that Appellant's buyout has to be recalculated based upon such an adjustment.²³

For the foregoing reasons, Rasmussen's opinion that the Arizona Tax Refund should have been treated as a "prior period adjustment" is inadmissible under Rule 702 as it cannot "assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue" and will only result in "confusion of the issues." Rimmasch, 775 P.2d at 398 n. 8. As such, the trial court's failure to exclude this opinion was plain error.

b. Rasmussen's Opinions Concerning the Covenant Not to Compete and the Concessions Contract Are Irrelevant and Unreliable.

In his affidavit, Rasmussen testified that GCE violated GAAP by allocating \$1,000,000 of the purchase price of the business owned by Ron Smith prior to 1987 to a Covenant Not to Compete (the "Covenant") granted to GCE by Ron Smith. (Rec. at 1515-1520.) Rasmussen opined that the Covenant was "worthless" and that, consequently, the \$1,000,000 paid for the Covenant should have been booked to GCE's Concession Contract with the National Park Service and amortized for forty years, rather than the four years GCE amortized the Covenant.²⁴ (Id.) Like his opinion regarding the

²³ Appellant argues that Rasmussen's testimony is relevant as to the period of time in which the Arizona Tax Refund received by GCE was generated. However, regardless of whether Rasmussen's opinion relates to a time period during which Appellant was employed, he admits that it is of no consequence because GAAP does not require restatement of financials or recalculation of Appellant's buyout.

²⁴ Not surprisingly, this maximum amortization period provides the maximum benefit to Appellant by adjusting the net book value as of the date of his resignation.

Arizona Tax Refund, Rasmussen's opinions regarding the Covenant and the Concession Contract are irrelevant and unreliable, and therefore, inadmissible.

i. Rasmussen's Opinions Are Irrelevant.

Rasmussen's disagreement with GCE about characterization of the \$1 Million payment for the Covenant is another red herring. If the Concession Contract could have been amortized over the same period as the Covenant, or over a substantially similar period, then there is no evidence of bad faith. Accordingly, any opinion Rasmussen might offer about what he personally would have done with the Concession Contract is irrelevant.

Rasmussen agreed that APB No. 17 is the governing authority for amortization of intangible assets such as a covenant not to compete or acquisition of a contract right, like the Concession Contract at issue. (Rec. at 1490 (depo. transcript at 139).) APB No. 17 states the rule as follows:

9. The Board concludes that a company should record as assets the costs of intangible assets acquired from others, including good will acquired in the business combination. A company should record as expenses the costs to develop intangible assets which are not specifically identifiable. The Board also concludes that the cost of each type of intangible assets should be amortized by systematic charges to income over the period estimated to be benefited. The period of amortization should not, however, exceed forty years.

(Rec. at 1463, ¶ 9 (emphasis added).) Thus, APB No. 17 establishes a ceiling for amortization, not a floor. Indeed, Rasmussen himself acknowledged that the language of APB No. 17 vests discretion in the accountant applying the enumerated factors affecting amortization (Rec. at 1488 (depo. transcript at p. 153)); that it is possible to amortize the

Concession Contract over the term of its existence (which is what GCE did with the Covenant), (see id. (depo. transcript at p. 155)); and that there is no black letter law that says these type of assets must be amortized over forty years. (Rec. at 1484 (depo. transcript at p. 187).)

In light of Rasmussen's concessions, there is no basis upon which the trier of fact could conclude from Rasmussen's opinions that amortization over four years rather than forty years is bad faith.²⁵ Since the Concessions Contract could properly, under APB No. 17, be amortized to the end of the four-year payment stream or to the end of its term in 1992, whether the \$1 Million payment was properly characterized as payment for the Covenant, or should have been characterized as payment for the Concessions Contract, makes no difference.

ii. Rasmussen's Opinions Are Based Upon An Erroneous Factual Foundation While Ignoring Other Significant and Undisputed Facts.

In addition, Rasmussen's amortization opinion is fundamentally flawed. Specifically, Rasmussen's opinion is based upon the erroneous assumption that at the inception of GCE's business in 1986, an accountant was required to assume that the useful life of a concession contract ran in perpetuity, and therefore, the maximum amortization period of forty years applied. (Rec. at 1485 (depo. transcript at p. 178).) In

²⁵ A breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing does not occur where one accountant decides, as Rasmussen has done, that it would be more reasonable to account for an asset in a different manner than another accountant. Rather, a breach is shown only where there is no basis for a decision. See, e.g., Morton v. Continental Baking Co., 938 P.2d 271, 274 (Utah 1977).

making this assumption, however, Rasmussen ignored several critical, undisputed facts, such as: (1) the Concession Contract itself provided for a limited term ending on December 31, 1992;²⁶ (2) the contract did not provide a period for renewal; and (3) although federal law provided a right of preference to an existing concessionaire, as of 1986 it provided absolutely no guarantee that an existing concessionaire would be able to renew its contract. Accordingly, Rasmussen's "perpetuity assumption" is devoid of factual support in the record.

Rasmussen's perpetuity assumption is not the only factual and analytical flaw in his amortization opinion. In GCE's memorandum of points and authorities in support of its motion to exclude Rasmussen's expert testimony, GCE outlined at least twenty-one additional factual errors that undermine the reliability of Rasmussen's assumptions and conclusions. In the interest of space, GCE will not repeat those arguments here, but rather incorporate herein by reference the relevant portions of its memorandum of points and authorities in support of its motion to exclude Rasmussen's expert testimony. (Rec. at 1171-1180.)

**iii. Rasmussen's Opinion That the Covenant Was
"Worthless" Lacks Sufficient Foundation For Admission.**

Finally, if Rasmussen is wrong about allocation of the \$1 Million between the Covenant and the Concession Contract, then the entire issue is moot as the Covenant

²⁶ Under APB No. 17, this is the most significant fact in determining proper amortization. (Rec. at 1462, ¶ 27.)

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